2001

Joseph M. Quagliana, Paula L. Quagliana v.
Exquisite Home Builders, Inc., Allan Krucken-Berg,
Gary Margetts, KM Design : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by property owners against a building contractor and designers for breaches of contract, with counterclaims that the property owners had breached the contracts.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This action was tried to court without a jury. It dismissed the property owners' action and entered judg-

ment for the contractor in the amount of \$1,577.73, together with attorney's fees of \$1,182.00; and in favor of the designers for \$500.00; plus interest and costs.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the judgment and remand to the district court with direction to dismiss the counterclaims of the defendants and enter judgment in favor of plaintiffs and against defendant Exquisite Home Builders, Inc., in the amount of \$4,303.72, together with an attorney's fee of \$2,257.00, interest and costs; or to make findings with respect to the damages and attorney's fees to which appellants are entitled; or to grant a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the spring of 1971, Dr. and Mrs. Quagliana (plaintiffs and appellants) wanted to have a home built in Salt Lake City, utilizing plans previously used by Mrs. Quagliana's father (R. 164). Some changes were desired in the plans that they had, and they contacted defendant K M Design (R. 1965), a partnership engaged in designing homes and apartments (R. 332). The partners in K M Design are defendants Gary Margetts and Allan Kruckenberg (R. 142, 126).

An oral agreement was entered into by the Quaglianas and K M Design under which K M agreed to prepare modified plans and specifications (R. 334).

There is a conflict in the evidence as to the other terms of the contract, but the court found that the Quaglianas were to pay \$1,000.00 for preparation of the plans and specifications, and that K M did not agree to supervise construction (R. 11, 65).

During the conversations with Gary Margetts of K M, the Quaglianas made it clear that they wanted a home in the Oak Hills area, with a view of the city from the rear window (R. 168, 346). At that time they did not own a building lot, and began looking for one upon which the house would fit and provide the desired view (R. 168).

During the Quaglianas' meetings with Margetts, he recommended some general contractors to build the home, among whom was defendant Exquisite Home Builders, Inc. (R. 167).

The Quaglianas contacted Philip Marstella, an employee and representative of Exquisite Home Builders (R. 167). Marstella was also a real estate broker and showed the Quaglianas property he thought might be suitable for the home (R. 279). Dr. Quagliana himself drove through the Oak Hills area and spotted a potential lot on Sherwood Drive (R. 168). At his request Marstella and Margetts went to look at the lot, and both advised him that the lot was suitable, and that the home would fit on the lot properly (R. 168, 346). Margetts said there would be a view (R. 346). The Quaglianas thereupon negotiated for and purchased

the lot (R. 170). K M prepared a plot plan showing the location of the house on the lot (R. 170, 346).

On or about October 7, 1971, a building contract was entered into by Marstella as agent for Exquisite Homes, and by the Quaglianas (Ex. 2-P). The contract contained the following provisions material to the issues in this case:

1. **SCOPE OF WORK:** Contractor agrees to provide all the labor and materials and do all things necessary for the proper construction and completion of the dwelling house and the other improvements for the Owner upon the building site above described in strict accordance with this contract, the plans of specifications hereunto attached and made a part hereof and identified by the signature of the parties hereto *and in strict compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances and other governmental regulations affecting such construction.*

* * *

4. **TIME OF COMPLETION:** The contractor agrees the work hereunder shall commence within 10 days after the notice that the mortgage covering the building site, given by the Owner to the Lender, has been recorded, and funds equal to the contract price have been deposited with the Lender in Construction Trust Fund Account No. as provided in Section 3 hereof, *time being of the essence, and contractor agrees to complete the construction of the dwelling house and improvements according to the plans and specifications, all applicable laws, ordinances and other government regula-*

tions applicable thereto, as well as in a manner satisfactory to the Owner and the Lender, within 180 days from the date of commencement.

* * *

8. PERMITS AND SURVEYS: * * *

Contractor shall, at his own cost and expense, provide the building permit. All other permits necessary for the construction of said dwelling house and improvements, including permits for sewer, water and other public utility connections shall be paid by the * * * Contractor.

The cost of the original inspections and surveys for the staking of the foundation shall be borne and paid by the Contractor.

The cost of re-inspections as required shall be paid by the Contractor.

The location of the building and improvements upon the above-described building site shall be made by the Contractor, and in making said location, he shall comply with all zoning ordinances and regulations and all building restrictions and protective covenants governing said real property.

* * *

17. LENDER'S COURTESY SERVICE:

As a matter of courtesy and favor, the Lender has supplied the Owner and Contractor with this suggested form of agreement. The parties hereto declare that it was entirely optional with them to use said form and that they voluntarily adopted and completed same. * * * (Emphasis added).

The contract was on a form provided by Prudential. Marstella had used the form previously and was familiar with its contents (R. 297).

Building restrictions had been recorded for the subdivision in which the property was located (Ex. 10-P). They included the following provisions:

9. SET BACKS: No dwelling house or other structure to be constructed or situated on any of said lots created except in conformity with the "set back" lines as established in each instance by the Architectural Supervising Committee and in conformity with any additional "set back" lines which may be fixed by the undersigned, its successors and assigns, in contract or deeds to any or all of the lots created on said property.

* * *

* * *

14. IMPROVEMENTS:

* * *

(b) Before the Architectural Supervising Committee may approve any plans for construction work of any kind on the premises, the lot owner or purchaser must submit the said committee an accurate plot plan showing the exact location of all buildings to be built on the lot. No construction of any kind or nature on any of the lots shall be commenced until either sidewalk or curb grade has been established.

(c) APPROVAL OF PLANS: No structures * * * shall be constructed upon any of the

said lots without the written approval as to location, height and design thereof first having been obtained from the Architectural Supervising Committee. Before construction work of any kind is started, the plans of the exterior design of any building to be constructed on any of the said lots shall first be submitted to the Architectural Supervising Committee for their approval, and said plans shall show the four exterior elevations of said building, together with the floor plan plotted on a map of said lot and any additional details of the house construction the Architectural Supervising Committee may require.

* * *

The set back established for the Quaglianas' Sherwood Drive property was 30 feet (R. 241).

After the contract had been entered into, Marstella went to Salt Lake City for a building permit (R. 258), and submitted the plans and specifications and plot plan. The plot plan showed a 30-foot set back on one street and a 20-foot set back on Sherwood Drive (R. 282). Before issuing the building permit, the city's representative struck out the words "20 feet" and inserted the word "average", meaning the average set back for houses located on the same side of Sherwood Drive. The average set back for such houses was 30 feet (R. 214-215, 298, 228).

Exquisite thereupon hired an engineering company to stake out lines for the excavation for the home. Marstella made no effort to determine the average set

back and directed the engineer to stake the lines exactly as shown on the original plot plan (R. 282, 300). Exquisite proceeded to excavate the lines staked by the engineering company.

At about the time the excavation was completed, Dr. Quagliana visited the property and discovered that the home was so located that there would be no view of the valley (R. 172). Marstella testified that it was fairly obvious at that time that the home would face directly onto the back of the other house, and "would look up into the front hill on the northeast part of the valley" (R. 283).

Marstella and Dr. Quagliana agreed that the house could be rotated at an angle so that it would face the valley (R. 172). It was Dr. Quagliana's desire to shift the house as far as possible and still meet the required side yard and rear yard set backs, Marstella said (R. 283). The set back in the front yard (Sherwood Drive) was not lessened, but was increased except for the corner, which was the axis for the rotation (R. 284, 299).

Marstella then had a new plot plan prepared in which the house had been shifted to provide the view that the Quaglianas had wanted in the first place (R. 284). The new plot plan, like the old one, showed a set back of 20 feet on Sherwood Drive; again the city changed it to "average" (R. 314); and again Marstella told his engineers to stake the excavation with a 20-foot

set back (R. 315). No effort was made to determine what the average set back was (R. 315). The footings and foundations were placed with a 20-foot set back on Sherwood Drive instead of the 30-foot set back required by the city regulations and the notation on the plot plan by the city.

Dr. Quagliana was informed that the plans and specifications had not been submitted to the Architectural Supervising Committee for the subdivision, and he told Marstella approval should be obtained (R. 175-176). There is a conflict in the evidence as to whether this conversation was before or after the concrete was poured, but it is clear that it was at about that time. The concrete was poured on December 7 (R. 301), and sometime prior to December 10 Marstella had left the plans and specifications with the committee with a note asking that they be approved (Ex. 11-P). On December 10, the committee wrote a letter to Marstella (Ex. 12-P) which contained the following:

We note that you only have a 20-foot set back to the garage from the front property line. Our minimum is 30 feet. You show a 4/12 pitch roof which must be lowered to 3½/12 pitch.

At about the same time, the exact date is not clear, the city inspectors placed a "stop order" on the construction (R. 217, 259). The court found that there was insufficient evidence to show the reason for the stop order (R. 19), but it is clear from the evidence that the building did not, in fact, conform to the set

back requirements. Harry Hurley, Zoning Enforcement Officer for Salt Lake City, testified that the set back was 10 feet short of that required by the average of houses in the block, and that notices were given to the contractor and the owner (R. 216).

Exquisite stopped construction work about the time of receipt of the letter from the Architectural Supervising Committee and the stop order from Salt Lake City, and no further construction was done on the home (R. 260).

Dr. Quagliana met with Glade Southam, president of Exquisite, and Marstella concerning what might be done. Dr. Quagliana said he would go to the Architectural Supervising Committee to see if it would be possible to work out a solution with them (R. 317). Thereafter, Dr. Quagliana did meet with the committee, but was unable to obtain any relief. He was told the only thing that could be done was to start over and try and meet requirements (R. 363). Mr. Muhlestein, a member of the committee, testified that the committee would not approve a set back of less than 30 feet (R. 243). Committee approval was never obtained (R. 261).

On January 3, 1972, Dr. Quagliana called Prudential Federal Savings and told them not to disburse any more funds to Exquisite without his approval (R. 189). Negotiations commenced between Dr. Quagliana and Exquisite on January 4, 1972, concerning what might be done to remedy the situation (R. 178, 304,

317), but no settlement was reached. Time went by, without any further construction work being done, and on March 9, 1972, Dr. Quagliana's counsel wrote to Exquisite terminating the company's right to proceed further with construction and telling them that the Quaglianas would look to them for damages for breach of contract (Ex. 16-DE).

In December, 1972, the Quaglianas sold the lot on Sherwood Drive (R. 183), having theretofore purchased a new home at another location (R. 182). An effort had been made to sell the home over many months and Dr. Quagliana had incurred expenses in selling it (R. 183, 264). He ultimately was able to sell it to a contractor for speculation for the sum of \$23,750.00 (R. 264).

The court concluded that Dr. Quagliana had breached his contract by refusing to let Exquisite Home Builders proceed further with construction and that Exquisite Home Builders was entitled to recover their unreimbursed costs. It also found that Dr. Quagliana's agreement with K M was to pay \$1,000.00 for the plans and specifications, that only \$500.00 had been paid, and that therefore K M was entitled to recover the balance of \$500.00 from Quaglianas.

ARGUMENT

I

The court should have found that the foundations and footings placed by Exquisite Home Builders, Inc.,

violated the set back provisions of the Salt Lake City zoning ordinance and the restrictive covenants of the subdivision.

Although requested to make a finding with respect to violation of the set back provisions of the ordinances and the building restrictions (R. 43) the court refused. This was a material issue in the case. Paragraph 4 of the complaint (R. 141) avers that the defendant Exquisite Home Builders "excavated for and poured the foundation of the home in such a location on the plaintiffs' property that it would not comply with the building restrictions on the property."

It is the duty of a trial court to make the findings of fact with respect to all of the contested issues in a case. See *Thomas v. Forrell*, 82 Uah 535, 26 P.2d 328 (1933); Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; 76 *Am. Jur. 2d, Trial*, §1259.

It is not necessary to send the case back to the trial court for a finding on this issue, however, because the facts with respect to violation of the set back restrictions were not seriously contested.

Mr. Harry Hurley, the Zoning Enforcement Officer for Salt Lake City, testified (and was corroborated by the testimony of Marstella) that when the plot plan was submitted the 20-foot set back was stricken and the word "average" was written in. The set back as actually established by Exquisite Homes was 20

feet, while the average set back for homes in that block was 30 feet.

Mr. Grant Muhlestein, a member of the architectural committee for St. Mary's Hills, Plat E, testified that the average set back, north side of Sherwood Drive, where the lot was located, was 30 feet, and that a 30-foot set back was required by the committee. He stated that the committee could not and would not have approved a 20-foot set back.

Thus, the evidence required a finding that the foundation as built by Exquisite Home Builders was in violation of the zoning ordinances, the building permit as approved by Salt Lake City, and the restrictive covenants that had been recorded for the subdivision.

II

Other findings of fact made by the court are not supported by the evidence.

The court's Finding No. 17 was that Dr. Quagliana had instructed Marstella to rotate the home and where to put it. Dr. Quagliana testified that he talked to Marstella about the problem and it was agreed between them that the house could be shifted to obtain a better view of the valley. Marstella testified that Dr. Quagliana did not expressly approve of the new plot plan, but after looking at it said it was better (R. 285). He also testified that he was "instructed" to shift the

house as far as he could and still meet the side yard and rear yard requirements (R. 283). He said the new drawing did not show the set back because it was greater than on the first drawing.

The court found that Dr. Quagliana inspected the job site after re-staking and approved of the re-staking (Finding No. 23). The testimony of Mr. Marstella with respect to that matter was as follows (R. 284):

Q: Did Dr. Quagliana inspect the staking prior to any excavation?

A: I wouldn't say for sure whether he did.

The court's Finding No. 31 is to the effect that Southam made various offers to the Quaglianas with respect to tearing out the foundations and footing, starting construction anew, buying the lot, and moving the garage to the opposite side of the house. The testimony indicates that there was no firm offer made. Marstella testified that no firm proposal had been made and that the conversation was to talk about possible solutions to the problem in which Exquisite Homes found itself (R. 304).

Southam testified that he felt it would be better to purchase the property and continue to build the house on its own account and that the company was trying to escape with the least possible cost (R. 322).

The court's Finding No. 33 was improper, although supported by some evidence. In the Quaglianas'

rebuttal case counsel offered evidence with respect to the conversations that occurred after the meeting of January 4, 1972, in an effort to show that no firm proposal had been made. The following occurred in the examination of Dr. Quagliana (R. 364-365):

Q: Can you tell us what, if any, contact you had with either Mr. Marstella or Mr. Southam subsequent to January 4?

A: Yes.

MR. SAWAYA: Excuse me, your honor. That is all matters which were part of the plaintiff's case in chief. I don't see that we really ought to have to listen to it again.

THE COURT: Well, what are you seeking to rebut here, Mr. Roe?

MR. ROE: Well, there was a good deal of testimony, if the court please, about what kind of negotiations went on and what kind of commitments were made in this case by Dr. Quagliana and by me after the meeting of January 4.

THE COURT: I really don't see what relevancy the negotiations after the work was stopped have with this lawsuit. I mean, they had a problem. It wasn't solved. And what their intentions were, their hopes were or their efforts to resolve it afterwards, do not impress me as being material or helpful here, because I can't see that the fact that they have negotiated in good faith or bad faith afterwards to try and correct the problem gives us any help with respect to how we should resolve this question.

MR. ROE: All right, I won't pursue it in that case, then.

Notwithstanding the court's declaration that evidence with respect to negotiations after January 4, 1972, were not material to the issues in the case, it made a finding with respect to those matters when it found that Exquisite Home Builders after February 23 advised plaintiff's counsel they were willing to tear out the foundation and start anew.

III

Exquisite Home Builders, Inc., materially breached its contract when it located the home in such a manner that it did not comply with the zoning ordinances or the restrictive covenants for the subdivision.

In reaching its decision, the trial court reasoned that it was the obligation of plaintiff, rather than Exquisite Home Builders, to obtain the initial approval from the Architectural Supervising Committee, that the approval was not obtained, that because of the failure to obtain it, the the committee sent the letter of December 10, 1972, proclaiming the violation, and that construction was stopped because of the letter.

In so doing, the court ignored the terms of the contract, and lost sight of the breach claimed and proved by the Quaglianas.

It was not the failure to obtain approval that con-

stituted the breach, but the building of the home in violation of the zoning ordinance and restrictive covenants. The contract required that the home be completed "in strict compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances and other governmental regulations affecting such construction." It also required the contractor to locate the building on the lot and "in making said location, [to] comply with all zoning ordinances and regulations and al building restrictions and protective covenants governing said real property."

The contract also provided that the contractor was to perform the work "in strict accordance" with the contract and the plans and specifications, but the provisions are not conflicting. The plans as approved by Salt Lake City did, in fact, provide for an "average" set back, and the permit issued by Salt Lake City provided for an "average" set back, not a 20-foot set back.

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