2001

Joseph M. Quagliana, Paula L. Quagliana v.
Exquisite Home Builders, Inc., Allan Krucken-Berg,
Gary Margetts, KM Design : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“Q. Was the initial excavation made in accordance with the original plot plan designed by K.M.?

A. Yes, it was.

Q. And the subsequent excavation was done in accordance to your instructions; is that correct?

A. Well, it was done in accordance with a decision made by all three of us. It was not—I did not say, “This is the way it will be and this is the way I want you to do it.” We decided to make a change with the approval of Mr. Marstella and Mr. Margetts and myself.

Q. It was your idea to make that change?

A. Yes, it was.

However, the plans and specifications, and particularly the plot plan, turned out to be defective. The testimony adequately established the requirement of a 30-

foot setback as imposed by the St. Mary's Hills Architectural Supervising Committee (R. 241).

Numerous cases can be found for the proposition that a construction contractor who has followed plans and specifications furnished by the owner, and which have proved to be defective, will not be responsible for the loss which results. In *Bradford Builders, Inc. v. Sears, Roebuck and Co.*, 270 F.2d 649 (5th Cir. 1959), the fencing subcontractor was furnished a plot plan by the general contractor. That plot plan showed the *location* where a fence was to be installed. The fencing subcontractor installed the fence *at the location* shown on the plot plan. The Court there held that since the subcontractor was bound to build according to plans and specifications, the subcontractor would not be held responsible for the consequences of defects in those plans and specifications. In *Kelly v. Bank Building and Equipment Corp. of America*, 453 F. 2d 774 (10th Cir. 1972), the building owner brought suit against the contractor for improper installation of a curtain wall. The trial court there found that the design of the curtain wall was deficient and that the curtain wall had been installed pursuant to the plans and specifications. In affirming for the contractor the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals held that the owner's architect impliedly warranted the sufficiency of the overall construction plan and that this warranty was paramount and controlling over any guarantee of completion by the contractor. In *Puget Sound National Bank of Tacoma v. C. B. Lauch Const. Co.*, 73 Idaho 68, 245

P. 2d 800, 805 (1952), the painting was shown by FHA to be unsatisfactory. However, the evidence sustained a finding that the painting had been accomplished in conformity with plans and specifications which had been incorporated into the contract by reference. In affirming for the painting contractor the Idaho Supreme Court stated:

“A contractor is required to follow the plans and specifications and when he does so, he cannot be held to guarantee that the work performed as required by his contract will be free from defects, or withstand the action of the elements, or that the completed job will accomplish the purpose intended. He is only responsible for improper workmanship or other faults, or defects resulting from his failure to perform.”

The leading case in this respect is *United States v. Spearin*, 248 U.S. 132, 137, 63 L. Ed. 166, 39 S. Ct. 59 (1918). In that case Spearin contracted to build a dry dock at the Brooklyn Naval Yard in accordance with plans and specifications which had been prepared by the government. Other contract provisions required the contractor to examine the site for the purpose of ascertaining the actual conditions, to check the plans, dimensions and elevations, and to stand responsible for the work until completion. The site was intersected by a 6-foot brick sewer which was required to be relocated. The plans and specifications provided that the contractor should do the work and prescribed the dimensions, material, and location of the sewer section to be substituted. All the prescribed requirements were

fully complied with by Spearin. Speaking through Justice Brandeis, the United States Supreme Court affirmed for the contractor:

“... But the insertion of the articles prescribing the character, dimensions and location of the sewer imported a warranty that, if the specifications were complied with, the sewer would be adequate. This implied warranty is not overcome by the general clauses requiring the contractor, to examine the site, to check up the plans, and to assume responsibility for the work until completion and acceptance. The obligation to examine the site did not impose upon him the duty of making a diligent enquiry into the history of the locality with a view to determining, at his peril, whether the sewer specifically prescribed by the Government would prove adequate. The duty to check plans did not impose the obligation to pass upon their adequacy to accomplish the purpose in view. And the provision concerning contractor's responsibility cannot be construed as abridging rights arising under specific provisions of the contract.”

The rule announced by these cases, that the owner is responsible for defects in plans and specifications, has become well settled in practically every American jurisdiction. 13 Am. Jur 2d, *Building and Construction Contracts*, Sec .28.

The *Spearin* case suggests that the plans and specifications, being more specific, must control over more general language. This would appear to be a specific application of the standard given in Restatement, Con-

tracts, Section 236 (c), and adopted in *Waterway Terminals Co. v. P.S. Lord Mechanical Contractors*, 242 Oregon 1, 406 P. 2d 556, 13 A.L.R. 3d 1 (1965). Those authorities indicate that a specific provision will ordinarily qualify the meaning of a more general provision.

In this particular case, the plot plan showed precisely where the building was to fit upon the lot. This was accomplished by giving four dimensions from various points on the structure to various points on the property lines (Ex. 1-P). It is not conceivable that the position of that home could have been given more specifically. Any other location would have changed those dimensions and completely nullified the entire plot plan.

The plaintiffs in this case have complained as to this defendant's interpretation of the contract and as to the position where the foundation was ultimately constructed. However, the plaintiffs have never indicated where their interpretation of the contract would place the structure. The undisputed testimony in this case was that the house would physically fit on the subject lot with appropriate 30-foot setbacks (R. 291, 319). However, the satisfaction of two 30-foot setback requirements would have oriented the house so that a direct view of the Salt Lake Valley would not have been presented (R. 292). The Record is replete with references to the view as being very important to the plaintiffs (R. 185, 188, 283). Even after Exquisite

agreed to tear out the foundation and start construction anew, at its own expense, the plaintiffs never could or did decide where the home should be positioned upon the lot.

This Court has, on many occasions, adopted the rule of construction that the proper interpretation of a contract is the interpretation placed upon it by the parties through their acts and conduct. *Roberts v. Tuttle*, 36 Utah 614, 105 Pac. 916 (1909); *Trucker Sales Corp. v. Potter*, 104 Utah 1, 137 P. 2d 370 (1943); and *Hardinge Co. v. Eimco Corp.*, 1 Utah 2d 320, 266 P.2d 494 (1954). It is interesting to note in this respect what Dr. Quagliana stated regarding the contractual right of Exquisite to position the home otherwise than as shown on the plot plan:

“Q. (By Mr. Harrison) Was Exquisite Home Builders at liberty to alter the position of that home as shown on the original plot plan?

A. No. This question had never arisen. (R. 197)

This Court has decided many cases under the rule of interpretation that a contract must be construed most strongly against the party responsible for the draftsmanship. *Wingets, Inc. v. Bitters*, 28 Utah 2d 231, 500 P. 2d 1007 (1972); *Seal v. Tayco, Inc.*, 16 Utah 2d 323, 400 P. 2d 503 (1965); *Guinand v. Walton*, 22 Utah 2d 196, 450 P. 2d 467 (1969); *Skousen v. Smith*, 27 Utah 2d 169, 493 P. 2d 1003 (1972); *Penn Stor Mining Co. v. Lyman*, 64 Utah 343, 231 Pac. 107 (1924); and

Mifflin v. Shiki, 77 Utah 190, 293 Pac. 1 (1930).

The record clearly shows that the subject contract was drawn by an agent of plaintiffs (R. 254, 281).

POINT III

AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES UPON A SECOND PLOT PLAN RESULTED IN A MODIFIED CONTRACT WHICH SUPERSEDED THE FIRST TO THE EXTENT OF ANY INCONSISTENCIES.

The general building contract contained a paragraph requiring any changes in the terms of the contract or the plans and specifications to be in writing (Ex. 2-P). This Court has held on several occasions that the parties to a written contract may modify, waive or make new terms notwithstanding such language. *Davis v. Payne & Day, Inc.*, 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P. 2d 337 (1960); *Wilson v. Gardner*, 10 Utah 2d 89, 348 P. 2d 931 (1960); *Calhoun v. Universal Credit Co.*, 106 Utah 166, 146 P. 2d 284 (1944); *Rhodes v. Clute*, 17 Utah 137, 53 Pac. 990 (1898); and *PLC Landscape Construction v. Piccadilly Fish 'N Chips, Inc.*, 28 Utah 2d 350, 502 P.2d 562 (1972).

These expressions of the Utah Supreme Court are consistent with the general rule as found in 17A C.J.S., *Contracts*, Section 377 (c), and 13 Am. Jur.2d, *Build-*

ing and Construction Contracts, Section 24. The latter states the rule this way:

“Although stipulations in building or construction contracts requiring written orders or agreements for extra work or alterations are valid and binding so long as they remain in effect, it is equally well settled that they may be avoided by the parties to the contract. The courts have adopted various theories of avoidance, which may be classified as those of independent contract, modification or rescission, waiver, and estoppel.

“A waiver of such stipulation by the owner is the theory on which it is most frequently avoided. Among the acts or conduct amounting to waiver are the owner’s knowledge of, agreement to, or acquiescence in, such extra work, a course of dealing which repeatedly disregards such stipulation, and a promise to pay for extra work, orally requested by the owner and performed in reliance on that promise.”

The evidence in this case clearly shows that Dr. Quagliana, after becoming dissatisfied with the view, originated the idea to modify the original plot plan (R. 184). Dr. Quagliana then directed Mr. Marstella to position the home “so that the back of it could face the valley” (R. 184). At that time Dr. Quagliana advised Exquisite that he would pay for the contract change (R. 284). Dr. Quagliana himself testified that the second excavation was done “. . . in accordance with a decision made by all three of us . . .” (R. 186). Dr. Quagliana expressly stated that the original plan and

specifications, which were a part of the contract, had been modified (R. 200):

“Q. But you modified those original plans and specifications, did you not?

A. Yes.”

As noted, Dr. Quagliana directed Exquisite to rotate the house so that the back of it could face the valley (R. 184). This is clearly inconsistent with the language of the general building contract (Ex. 2-P) which authorized the contractor to locate the building upon the site. In fact, Dr. Quagliana specifically testified that Exquisite was not at liberty to alter the position of the home (R. 197). This direction to locate the home so that the back of it could face the valley is clearly inconsistent with the positioning of that home so that the back of it would face the mountains and neighboring houses. This latter view was the only one available if the 30-foot set back requirement was to be met (R. 292, 320).

It is a well established principle of law that a second agreement will govern over inconsistent terms of an earlier contract between the same parties. Restatement, Contracts, Section 408. That principle was adopted by this Court in the case of *Mawhinney v. Jensen*, 120 Utah 142, 232 P.2d 769 (1951). A general statement of that principle is found in 17A C.J.S., *Contracts*, Section 379:

“An agreement, when changed by the mutual consent of the parties, becomes a new agreement,

which takes the place of the old and determines the rights of the parties thereto. In such case, the agreement between the parties consists of the new terms and as much of the old agreement as the parties have agreed shall remain unchanged, in other words, a contract may be abrogated in part and stand as to the residue and *the new contract supersedes the first to the extent that the two will be unable to stand together.*" (Italics added)

Principles of contract modifications are clearly applicable to building and construction contracts where the modification sometimes results from express or implied waiver.

"The foregoing rules, as to alteration or modification of contracts by mutual consent, have been applied to building and construction contracts. Thus the contractor and the owner may, by subsequent agreement, modify the original contract and authorize or require deviations and departures therefrom; and the new agreement either expressly or impliedly may waive any right either would otherwise have had; . . ." 17A C.J.S., *Contracts*, Section 373(b)

These principles have found application in the case of *Driver-Miller Plumbing, Inc. v. Fromm*, 72 N. M. 117, 381 P. 2d 53 (1963). That case involved a suit brought by a heating subcontractor against the owner-general contractor of a home. The owner-general contractor defended on the basis that the heating system failed to heat satisfactorily. The evidence there showed that the owner-general contractor obtained the

specifications and gave them to the heating subcontractor. Also, the owner-general contractor gave the heating subcontractor directions with reference to deviations from the specifications. On the basis of those facts, the Court stated its holding on page 54:

"The court found, and the finding is amply supported by adequate proof under the most stringent requirements, that the installation was made by plaintiff in accordance with instructions from Melvin B. Fromm, the general contractor, and with his knowledge and acquiescence. Accordingly, no complaint can be made that plaintiff failed to comply strictly with the original specifications."

POINT IV

PLAINTIFFS WRONGFULLY RESCINDED THE CONTRACT WHILE EXQUISITE HOME BUILDERS, INC., REMAINED READY, WILLING AND ABLE TO COMPLETE THE CONTRACT WITHIN THE TIME PROVIDED.

The plaintiffs' letter of March 9, 1972, terminating the right of Exquisite to proceed under the contract (Ex. 16-DE) and plaintiffs' Complaint (R. 141) were both predicated upon a total breach by failure to situate the home in accordance with building restrictions and inability to complete the home within the time contemplated by the contract. The contract did require

completion of the dwelling within 180 days from the date of commencement (Ex.-2P). Commencement was not required until ten days after funds were deposited with Prudential Federal Savings in the construction trust fund account (Ex. 2-P). Mr. Roof of Prudential Federal Savings testified that funds were deposited into the construction trust fund account on November 26, 1971 (R. 250, 253). The elapse of 180 days would have placed the completion date on approximately April 26, 1972. However, the general building contract, in paragraph No. 5, provided an extension of time for changes and unusual delays beyond the control of the contractor, and the Record discloses that the rotation of the home and poor weather, alone, caused a five week delay (Ex. 3-DE). Furthermore, the contract, paragraph number 6, provided a penalty for delay of \$12.92 per day as liquidated damages.

It should require no citation of authority to establish that an owner cannot anticipate the default of the contractor and, on that basis, terminate the contract. This is particularly so, when the contract provides for liquidated damages in the event of a delay in completion. 13 Am. Jur. 2d, *Building and Construction Contracts*, Section 47. The plaintiffs' sole remedy for failure to complete the contract within the time specified was the collection or retention of liquidated damages under the contract at the rate of \$12.92 per day; the plaintiffs cannot anticipatorily repudiate the contract for failing to complete the home within the time con-

templated by the contract when at least 47 days remain before completion is required.

Our facts are similar in this respect to those in the oft-cited case of *Brady v. Oliver*, 125 Tenn. 595, 147 S.W. 1135 (1911). That case similarly involved a construction contract where the owner anticipated a failure to perform at a time prior to the time set for completion. The court there contrasted that case with those where the contractor had abandoned the contract or had renounced the contract and refused to proceed under it. The Court there held that the disability could not be anticipated. Such a factual situation would seem to be within the scope of the rule announced in *Retatement, Contracts, Section 323*. It should be noted, however, that that section is premised upon a defective performance. Explanatory comment (c), page 487, reads as follows:

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